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A row of three terraced houses now occupies the site of the former Gwawr Baptist chapel 

in Regent Street, Aberaman. Completed in 1849, the chapel was decommissioned and 

demolished around 1970. It was built as a Welsh Baptist Chapel, but for a brief period in 

1851 – from April 23rd to November 4th -  the building was used by the Church of Jesus 

Christ of Latter Day Saints [‘Mormons’], as then Minister David Bevan Jones, (known as 

Dewi Elfed), had converted to the Latter Day Saint faith, along with some of his 

congregation.  

 

 

The chapel had already 

been constituted separately 

from its “mother church”, 

Carmel Aberdare, on June 

14th 1848. Dewi Elfed 

became minister and raised 

funds to complete the 

building upon his arrival 

between autumn 1848 and 

spring 1849. In order to 

allow the building to be 

completed, the names of 

Thomas Price and John 

Davies were removed from 

the lease and the names of 

Dewi Elfed and David   

Richards were inserted. 

 

  



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

By early 1850 the Welsh Baptist Church were in conflict with Dewi Elfed as he 

was preaching “Mormon” doctrine to his congregation. In December 1850 he and 

his congregation were expelled from the Welsh Baptist Church. Dewi Elfed 

contacted President William Phillips, who was then President of the Welsh Latter 

Day Saint Mission, in March 1851, asking for baptism for himself and around 50 

to 60 of his congregation. Dewi Elfed also stated that the landlord was happy to 

change the wording of the lease for it to become a Latter-day Saint chapel. On 

April 20th 1851 Dewi Elfed locked the doors of the chapel, and the first LDS 

meeting there was held on 23rd April 1851, conducted by William Phillips. On 

Sunday 27th April Dewi Elfed, David Rees and three others were baptised. At 2 pm 

that afternoon they were ordained as Priests in Gwawr Chapel.  

 

William Phillips’ account of the events was published in the LDS publication, the 

Millennial Star of April 1st 1851: 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A war of words broke out between

Thomas Price did admit some 

 

 

between Price and Dewi Elfed - both overstating

 years later that several families in the congregation

overstating their support, but 

congregation had converted. 



 
Price wrote letters to Yr Amserau and Dewi Elfed replied in the Udgorn Seion (an 

LDS periodical). The Welsh Baptists took the battle for possession of Gwawr 

Chapel to the Glamorgan Summer Assizes on July 12th 1851. No records of the 

case or newspaper reports of this survive, but evidently the court found in favour of 

the Baptists, as Thomas Price plus sixteen trustees were assigned care of the 

chapel.  

 

On 4 November 1851 Price arrived with a crowd (allegedly 2000 strong), and the 

sheriff of Glamorgan. The door to the chapel was bolted, with Dewi Elfed and one 

other inside. The sheriff said that he had no authority to break down the door of a 

place of worship. Price instructed a mason and carpenter to force open a window. 

Dewi and the other Saint were thrown out of the building, which reopened as a 

Welsh Baptist Chapel on Sunday November 9th 1851. 

 

Ever a controversial figure, Dewi Elfed went on to write poetry in Welsh and 57 of 

the 575 hymns in the Latter Day Saint Hymnal published by John Davies in 

November 1852. Dewi Elfed emigrated to Salt Lake City in 1860 and died at 

Logan in the northern part of Utah, in 1863.  

 

 

 

Sources for this historical information: 

 

Truth Will Prevail, Chapter 8 in  The Welsh and the Gospel, Ronald D. Dennis 

Mormons in Early Victorian Britain, Chapter 8, from a Seion of Lands to the Land of Zion: The 

life of David Bevan Jones, by D.L.Davies 

Chapels of The Cynon Valley, Alan Vernon Jones. 

Extracts from The Millennial Star 1 April 1851 (No. 7) -  a letter from William Phillips, who 

presided over the Wales Conference, to Franklin D. Richards, who presided over the British 

Mission. 

 

 


